
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU 

 
 

 
 

Planning Committee 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Members of the Planning Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend 
a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend DA12 1AU 
on Wednesday, 15 June 2022 at 7.00 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is 
proposed to be transacted. 
 
 

 
S Walsh 
Service Manager (Communities) 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A 
Items likely to be considered in Public 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 5 - 10) 

3. Declarations of Interest   

 To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is.  Any declared interest will fall into one of the following 
categories: 
 
A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest which has been or should have been 
declared to the Monitoring Officer, and in respect of which the member 
must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in question; 
 
An Other Significant Interest under the Code of Conduct and in respect of 
which the member must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in 
question unless exercising the right of public speaking extended to the 
general public; 
 
A voluntary announcement of another interest not falling into the above 
categories, made for reasons of transparency. 

 



 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public  

 

5. Planning applications for determination by the Committee   

a) 20210453 - Former Cinema Site, 11 King Street, Gravesend (Pages 11 - 36) 

6. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Environment)  

 

 A copy of the schedule has been placed in the democracy web library 
and also in the Reception, Civic Centre: -  
 
Document library - Gravesham Borough Council 
 

 

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

 

8. Exclusion   

 To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

Part B 
 

Items likely to be considered in Private 
 
None 

 

 
 
 
Members 
 
Cllr Brian Sangha (Chair) 
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Brian Francis 

Gary Harding 
Samir Jassal 
Bob Lane 
Emma Morley 
Elizabeth Mulheran 
Tony Rice 
 

 
Substitutes: To be notified 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12911


 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Planning Committee 
 

Wednesday, 18 May 2022 7.00 pm 
 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Brian Sangha (Chair) 
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Brian Francis 

Gary Harding 
Leslie Hills 
Samir Jassal 
Bob Lane 
Emma Morley 
Elizabeth Mulheran 
 

Shazad Ghani  Service Manager (Planning) 
Richard Hart   Team Leader (Development Management) 
Katherine Parkin  Senior Planner 
Amanda Grout  Planning Officer  
Laura Caiels   Principal Lawyer – Place Team 
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager  
 
1. Apologies  
 
An apology for absence was received from Cllr Tony Rice and Cllr Leslie Hills attended as 
his substitute. 
 
2. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday, 6 April 2022 were signed by the Chair. 
 
3. Declarations of Interest  
 
No declarations of interest were made. 
 
4. Planning applications for determination by the Committee  
 
4.1 20220224 - Land junction with Davis Avenue and Rosebank Gardens, 

Northfleet, Gravesend, Kent DA11 8RZ  
 
The Committee considered planning application 20220224 in relation to land junction with 
Davis Avenue and Rosebank Gardens, Northfleet, Gravesend, Kent.  
 
The application was for the erection of a single storey dwelling with associated works. 
 
The Planning Officer introduced the application to the Committee and highlighted key points 
from the report.  
 

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee 18.05.2022

2

The Officer stated that planning permission had previously been granted on the site in 2004 
for residential development however this was never implemented and had expired. Due to 
the passage of time and changes to the adopted Development Plan and national planning 
policy since, the previous permission was not a material planning consideration. A further 
application had also been submitted and refused by the Committee in April 2021. The only 
change from the previously refused application was the removal of a detached car port in the 
garden. It was considered that the adverse impacts of the development would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits and would provide a minimal contribution towards 
increasing housing numbers in the area. On that basis, the Officer’s recommendation was 
for refusal.  
 
The Committee was invited to ask any questions for clarification.  
 
The Committee heard the views of a public speaker in favour of the application. 
 
The Committee expressed concern that the proposed dwelling would result in an 
incongruous development of a poor design that does not integrate with its surroundings. The 
proposed dwelling was being promoted as a disabled dwelling however no off-street parking 
would be available for a disabled user. The Committee acknowledged the benefit of 
providing an additional dwelling to the local housing market, and the benefit of meeting the 
needs of a disabled user. However, the Committee determined that such benefits did not 
outweigh the harm identified.  
 

Resolved that the application to be REFUSED Planning Permission on the following 
grounds:  

 
1. The proposed dwelling will result in a prominent and cramped over-development of 

the site that would be incongruous with the character and appearance of the layout of 
the residential properties in the surrounding area. The proposal is therefore 
considered to be contrary to the requirements of Policies CS15 and CS19 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014, and paragraphs 119, 124, 126, and 130 
of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021.  

 
2. The proposed dwelling will result in a lack of off-street parking space suitable for a 

disabled user, and no passing place or pedestrian visibility splays for the users of the 
existing rear access and No. 1 Davis Avenue in particular. The proposal would 
therefore conflict with pedestrian and highway users, and the requirements of saved 
Policies T1, T5 and P3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994, Policies 
CS11 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 and paragraph 
130 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021.  
 

INFORMATIVES: 
 

1.  SUBMITTED DRAWINGS AND DOCUMENTS  
 

2. STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-
TAKING 
 

Note:  Mr Edwards (in favour of the application) addressed the Committee.  
 
 
 

Page 6



Planning Committee 18.05.2022

3

4.2 20220246 - 28 Park Road, Gravesend, Kent DA11 7PR  
 
The Committee considered planning application 20220246 in relation to 28 Park Road, 
Gravesend, Kent. 
 
The application was for outline planning permission with all matters reserved for the 
demolition of the existing building and erection of 1no. one storey dwelling and 4.no. three 
bedroom dwellings. 
 
The Planning Officer introduced the application to the Committee and highlighted key points 
from the report.  
 
The Planning Officer advised that a similar outline application had previously been submitted 
and refused in November 2021. The current application was similar and did not address the 
previous reasons for refusal. A balanced approach needed to be taken, however it was 
considered that the adverse impacts of the development would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits and would provide a minimal contribution towards 
increasing housing numbers in the area. On that basis, the Officer’s recommendation was 
for refusal. The proposed reasons for refusal, as set out in the report, were similar to those 
shared by the Planning Inspectorate who recently dismissed an appeal 
(APP/K2230/W/21/3272575) for the erection of a pair of semi-detached dwellings with 
associated parking, landscaping and access at Land east of 58 Dover Road, Five Ash Road, 
Gravesend, Kent. The appeal was attached at appendix 1 to the report for Members’ 
background information.  
 
The Committee was invited to ask any questions for clarification.  
 
The Committee heard the views of a public speaker against the application. 
 
The Committee queried why the applicant had submitted an outline application, rather than a 
full application. The Officer advised that this is mainly done where the applicant seeks to 
gain approval for the principle of development, prior to incurring further costs. 
 
The Committee considered that the proposals would:- 
 

  result in a prominent and cramped over-development of the site that would be out of 
character with the area;  

  result in a detrimental impact on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers in terms of 
loss of privacy, overlooking and the increase of noise and disturbance; 

  have a detrimental impact on the amenities of future occupiers of the dwellings as the 
proposal failed to provide adequate private amenity space; and  

  failed to secure adequate access for residents and emergency/refuse vehicles.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Planning Committee 18.05.2022

4

Resolved that the application to be REFUSED Planning Permission, for the following 
reasons:  

 
1. The outline proposals are considered to constitute an overdevelopment of the 

garden which would result in a comparatively cramped form of development and 
would be incongruous considering the existing pattern of development and the 
character of the residential gardens which comprise the area. It is therefore 
harmful to the character and appearance of the site and the wider locality and 
would contravene Policies CS14, CS15 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan 
Core Strategy September 2014 which ensure new development will integrate well 
with the surrounding local area. At a national level the proposed development 
would also contravene paragraph 130 of the NPPF (2021) which states 
developments will function well and add to the overall quality of the area and are 
sympathetic to local character including the surrounding built environment. 
 

2. Due to the proximity and relationship of the proposed properties and access road 
to the rear elevations and rear gardens of Nos, 54 to 84 Woodfield Avenue 
located to the west, the proposal would result in a detrimental impact on the 
amenities of the occupiers of the properties in terms of loss of privacy, 
overlooking and the increase of noise and disturbance, contrary to Policy CS19 of 
the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014 and paragraph 130 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework 2021.  

 
3. The proposal would fail to provide adequate private amenity space and would 

result in a detrimental impact on the amenities of future occupiers of the 
dwellings, contrary to Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
September 2014 and paragraph 130 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
2021.  

 
4. The proposal fails to secure adequate access for residents and refuse vehicles, 

as well inadequate cycle provision and therefore is contrary to Policy CS11 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014.  

 
5. The proposal fails to secure a contribution towards strategic mitigation measures 

within Special Protection Areas, and in the absence of this contribution or 
adequate information to inform an Appropriate Assessment, the development fails 
to comply with the requirements of the Habitat Regulations and Section 14 
(specifically paragraphs 180 and 181) of the National Planning Policy Framework 
2021 and Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 
2014.  

 
INFORMATIVES  
 

1. DRAWINGS AND DOCUMENTS  
 
For the avoidance of doubt, the decision to refuse this application was taken in 
relation to the following forms, plans and documents comprising the application:  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



Planning Committee 18.05.2022

5

Planning Application Form;  
OS Plan;  
Drawing No. SC_28ParkRd_SiteLocationPlan_V1 – Site Location Plan; Drawing No. 
SC_28ParkRd_ExistingBlockPlan_V1 – Existing Block Plan; Drawing No. 
SC_28ParkRd_ExistingMasterPlan_V1 – Existing Master Plan; Drawing No. 
SC_28ParkRd_ExistingSections – Existing Sections;  
Drawing No. 0744.MP.0902 – Proposed Master Plan 1;  
Drawing No. SC_28ParkRd_ProposedSections – Proposed Sections. and Drawing 
No. 0744.T.0901 – Turning/Manoeuvring.  
 

2. STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-
MAKING  
 
In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021, the Local Planning Authority 
has approached the assessment and determination of this application in a positive 
and creative way and, where appropriate, has worked pro-actively with the applicant 
to secure a development that is sustainable and that improves the economic, social 
and environmental conditions of the area, and that is in accordance with the 
Development Plan for the area.  
 
In this instance, pre-application guidance was given and not taken into consideration 
and the application is contrary to local and national planning policy and the planning 
objections could not be overcome by amendments to the scheme or through the 
imposition of acceptable and appropriate planning conditions. 

 
Note: Mrs Wilson speaking on behalf of Ms Boarer (against the application) addressed the 

Committee. 
 
5. Appointment of Appeals Sub-Committee  
 
The Committee considered the wishes of the political groups in relation to the appointment of 
Members to the Appeals Sub-Committee.  
 

Resolved that an Appeals Sub-Committee be appointed as shown below:  
 
Labour:     Conservative:  
Cllr Lyn Milner (Chair)   Cllr Gary Harding 
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair) 

 
6. Appointment of Hackney Carriage Sub-Committee  
 
The Committee considered the wishes of the political groups in relation to the appointment of 
Members of the Hackney Carriage Sub-Committee.  
 

Resolved that a Hackney Carriage Sub-Committee be appointed as shown below:  
 
Labour:     Conservative:   
Cllr John Burden (Chair)   Cllr Jordan Meade  
Cllr Brian Sangha (Vice-Chair) 

 

Page 9



Planning Committee 18.05.2022

6

7. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
 (Environment)  
 
A schedule showing applications determined by the Director (Environment) under delegated 
powers had been published on the Council’s website. 
 
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 8.14 pm. 
 

Page 10



 

 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE  

Application Ref: 20210453 

Site Address: Former Cinema Site 11 King Street Gravesend Kent 

Application 
Description: 

 
*REVISED DESCRIPTION & DRAWINGS** 
Repair, restoration, extension and repurposing of 11-12 King 
Street to provide a residents' workhub at ground floor level and 6 
flats above along with the construction of a new part 6, part 7 
storey building to the rear to contain 42 flats creating 48 flats in 
total together with car and cycle parking, refuse and recycling 
storage and private and communal amenity spaces. 
 
 

Applicant: Lali Enterprises Ltd 

Agent: James Doherty, Boyer Planning 

Ward: Riverside 

Parish: Non-Parish Area 

Decision due date: 30 September 2021  

Decision Level: Planning Committee – Wednesday 15 June 2022 

Reason for referral: 
This application has been the subject of previous reports to the 
Board meetings on 27 October 2021 (original report) and 24 
November 2021 (report of site inspection). 

Recommendation: 
 
DELEGATED to the Service Manager (Planning) for 
REFUSAL  

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
BACKGROUND AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
Members will recall that this application was considered at the Planning Committee 
meetings of 27 October 2021 and 24 November 2021. For background information and 
context, Members may wish to review the relevant reports and minutes from these 
meetings (5c and 5c). At the November 2021 meeting, Members resolved to the defer 
making a decision on the application, for the following reasons:: 

1. The amended plans received prior to the meeting to be assessed for further 
negotiations to take place; 

2. Consultations to be undertaken; 
3. The applicant to provide supporting revised information; 
4. To produce a revised financial viability statement on the impact of the revised 

scheme including delivery of affordable housing.   
 
The agent submitted revised plans and documents to the Council in March 2022, these 
revisions were not informed by any further negotiations between officers and the agent. 

Page 11 Agenda Item 5a



The revisions focus upon the proposed rear building fronting Brewhouse Yard, and 
consist of a reduction of two stepped storeys on the western half of the building.  The 
proposed building would now be 6-7 storeys in height as opposed to the originally 
proposed 6-9 storeys.  This would result in a reduction in the total number of units in the 
proposed building from 47to 42, meaning there would be a reduction in the total of 
number of units provided in the scheme overall from 53 to 48. 
 
Whilst it is acknowledged that changes have been made to the proposal to reduce the 
height of part of the building fronting Brewhouse Yard, on balance it is still considered that 
the proposal is unacceptable in respect of design and heritage terms and the amenity of 
future occupiers and neighbouring properties.    
 
It is recommended that the application be refused for the reasons set out at the end of 
this report. 
 
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 
MAIN REPORT 

Introduction 
 
This application was originally considered at the Planning Committee meeting of the 27 
October 2021.  At that meeting Members had concerns regarding the bulk and massing of 
the proposal and how it would be an overbearing structure.   The application was deferred 
for one cycle to allow a Site Inspection to take place on Saturday 13 November 2021. 
Following this Site Inspection and prior to the Planning Committee held on 24 November 
2021, revised plans were received from the applicant at their discretion.  Due to the timing 
of the submission there was insufficient time to review all the amendments and for the 
information to be re-consulted on. Also none of the supporting documents were revised or 
updated at this point.  As such Members resolved to defer the application to allow the 
amended plans to be assessed, for further negotiations to take place, consultations to be 
undertaken, the supporting information to be revised accordingly, including a revised 
viability appraisal.   
 
Full revised plans and documents including a viability appraisal were received from the 
agent in March 2022, these plans and documents were not informed by negotiations 
between the agent and planning officers. The revised plans and documents reduce the 
height of the western half of the building by two stepped storeys so that the overall height 
of the building would now be 7 storeys instead of 9. 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              
This has also resulted in a reduction in the number of overall units proposed in the 
development from 53 to 48.  Full re-consultation and publicity has been carried out and 
consideration of these revised plans and documents is set out further below.   
 
Proposal  
 
The proposal as originally submitted was for the repair, restoration, extension and 
repurposing of 11-12 King Street to provide a residents' workhub at ground floor level and 6 
flats above along with the construction of a new building to the rear standing between part 6 
and part 9 storeys to contain 47 flats together with car and cycle parking, refuse and 
recycling storage and private and communal amenity spaces with the total number of flats 
for the proposed development being 53. 
 
The revised proposal is now for repair, restoration, extension and repurposing of 11-12 King 
Street to provide a residents' workhub at ground floor level and 6 flats above along with the 
construction of a new part 6, part 7 storey building to the rear to contain 42 flats together 

Page 12



with car and cycle parking, refuse and recycling storage and private and communal amenity 
spaces with the total number of flats for the proposed development being 48.  
 
The application now comprises the following plans and documents: 
 
Submitted Plans/Documents 
 
The application now comprises the following plans and documents: 
 

 Application form; 

 Drawing no. 200-001 Rev. P0 – Site Location Plan and Block Plan; 

 Drawing no. 200—010 Rev. P0 – Existing Site Plan; 

 Drawing no. 200-020 Rev. P0 – Existing Elevations (Existing Elevation A-A); 

 Drawing no. 200-021 Rev. P0 – Existing Elevations 02 (Existing Elevation B-B; 

 Drawing no. 200-030 Rev. P0 – Proposed Site Plan; 

 Drawing no. 200-031 Rev. P0 – Proposed Ground Floor Plan; 

 Drawing no. 200-032 Rev. P0 – Proposed 1st Floor Plan; 

 Drawing no. 200-033 Rev. P0 – Proposed 2nd Floor Plan; 

 Drawing no. 200-034 Rev. P0 – Proposed 3rd Floor Plan; 

 Drawing no. 200-035 Rev. P2 – Proposed 4th Floor Plan; 

 Drawing no. 200-036 Rev. P2 – Proposed 5th Floor Plan; 

 Drawing no. 200-037 Rev. P2 – Proposed 6th Floor Plan; 

 Drawing no. 200-040 Rev. P1 – Existing Elevations 01 (Proposed Elevation A-A); 

 Drawing no. 200-041 Rev. P1 – Proposed Elevations 02 (Proposed Elevation B-
B); 

 Drawing no. 200-042 Rev. P1 – Proposed Elevations 03 (Proposed Elevation C-
C); 

 Drawing no. 200-043 Rev. P0 – Proposed Elevations 04 (Proposed Elevation D-
D); 

 Drawing no. 200-044 Rev. P1 – Proposed Elevations 05 (Proposed Elevation E-
E); 

 Drawing no. 200-045 Rev. P1 – Proposed Elevations 06 (Proposed Elevation F-
F); 

 Drawing no. 200-046 Rev. P1 – Contextual Elevations 01; 

 Drawing no. 200-047 Rev. P1 – Proposed Roof Plan; 

 Drawing no. 200-048 Rev. P0 – Proposed Commercial Layout; 

 Proposed Scheme Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing by XC02, Rev. 2, March 
2022 (occupiers); 

 Design & Access Statement Rev. 1; 

 Ecological Assessment Report Ref: DFA21009V4 by Derek Finnie Associates Ltd; 

 Economic Benefits Summary by Boyer; 

 Proposed Computer Generated Imagery (CGI); 

 Updated Financial Viability Assessment by QP Associates; 

 Utilities Statement Report and Appendices by XC02, March 2022; 

 Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing Impact Assessment Note by XC02, March 
2022 (neighbours); 

 Energy & Sustainability Statement by XC02, March 2022; 

 Air Quality Mitigation Statement by Lustre Consulting; 

 Delivery & Servicing Plan by Pulsar Transport Planning, February 2022; 

 Flood Risk Assessment and SUDS Strategy Rev. B by Water Environment 
Limited, February 2022; 

 Heritage and Townscape Statements by HCUK Group Parts 1-5, March 2022; 

 Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment Report 20753.NVIA.01 by KP Acoustics; 

Page 13



 Phase 1 Desk Study Ref. 3599-2005050ML rv 1 by Lustre Consulting, Updated 
February 2022; 

 Transport Statement by Pulsar Transport Planning, February 2022; and 

 Daylight, Sunlight & Overshadowing by XC02, March 2021 (neighbours). 
 
Consultations and Publicity on the Revised Drawings and Documents 
 

Consultations 
 
Where additional information has been provided by consultee, otherwise please refer to the 
previous consultee comments.  
 
GBC Leisure & Resilience Manager (Communities)   
 
Policy CS13 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014)  and the NPPF recognises 
that access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make 
an important contribution to the health and well-being of communities. As also outlined by 
Sport England, consideration should be given to how any new development, especially for 
new housing, will provide opportunities for people to lead healthy lifestyles and create 
healthy communities.  Due to the constrained nature of this major development and the 
associated high rise form, it would not be expected that the developer would provide types of 
formal and informal leisure provision at site, but it is reasonable to expect the applicant to 
offset the impact of its development on existing leisure facilities in the area.  
 
Based on all the assessment data currently available including, the Open Space, Sport & 
Recreation Assessment compiled by Knight Kavanagh & Page in 2016; there is particular 
shortage in the provision of 3G artificial pitches, junior/youth grass pitches and ancillary 
buildings, swimming pool lanes and an overall ageing leisure centre facility stock at Cygnet 
and Cascades Leisure Centres (of which a new leisure centre is currently being designed 
and developed at Cascades). There is also the need for major capital improvements to play 
equipment across the borough, of which the number of total sites available within the 
borough is remarkably less when compared to other areas. A planned approach for future 
investment has been developed by Operational Services across a number of specific sites. 
Areas close to this particular development site include the Riverside Leisure area, which is 
anticipated to require further investment in the next 1-2 years. 
 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/community-and-leisure/sports-and-recreation/open-
space,-sport-and-recreation-assessment 
 
Taking into consideration the development’s location within the borough and real time 
need/deficiencies on the ground, the development would be expected to make a financial 
contribution towards upgrading and improving existing leisure provisions, which may include 
those facilities listed above.  Using Sport England Sports Facility Calculator (SFC), and if we 
assume 120 residents within the new development (based on an average of 2.5 residents 
per residential dwelling), the SFC gives an indicative contribution figure of approximately 
£54,323. 
 
GBC Waste & Recycling Manager 
 
I have reviewed the above planning application and have the following comments.   
 

 I cannot support the location of the bin store, it is located at the farthest point from 
the public highway and there is no access for the vehicle.  The only option is for the 
bins to be placed nearer to the public highway on collection day for emptying and 
then placed back in the store by the managing company. 

Page 14

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/community-and-leisure/sports-and-recreation/open-space,-sport-and-recreation-assessment
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/community-and-leisure/sports-and-recreation/open-space,-sport-and-recreation-assessment


 

 The bin store contains the correct number of refuse and recycling bins, however the 
food waste bin cannot be an 1100ltr bin.  We specific 140ltr bins and for a 
development of this size there would need to be 5 x 23ltr food wheelie bins 
 

 Each flat will need to be provided with a 5ltr food caddie 
 

 There does need to be separate bin storage provision for the commercial units. 
 
Our standard guidance is  
 

Flats are generally serviced by communal bin stores.  Bin stores should be large enough 
to accommodate and manoeuvre sufficient 1,100 litre refuse and recycling Eurobins for 
the number of dwellings in each block. 
 
Developers are required to pay for the provision of all bins required for a development 
and these can be purchased through the Council.  Developers are welcome to purchase 
their own 1,100 litre bins however the bins must be metal and comply with European 
Standard EN840. 
 
The following provision is required 

Refuse - 1 x 1,100ltr bin per 6 flats 
Recycling – 1 x 1,100ltr bin per 6 flats with special recycling lid 
Food Waste – 1 x 140ltr bin per 10 flats with an individual 5ltr caddy per flat 

 
The immediate area outside the bin store should be level with the road, should not 
include an incline and the installation of a drop kerb where necessary is mandatory.  Car 
parking spaces should not be allocated immediately in front of the access to the bin 
store. 

 
The maximum distance bins will be moved by collection crews should be no more than 
15 metres.   

 
It is recommended that bin stores are fitted with a lock which is accessed via a key or a 
key code pad. 

 
Where there is a building of mixed use (ie flat above shop), then separate waste 
provision must be made for the domestic and commercial premises. 

 
Collections from sites will not occur until containers are in place.  It is the responsibility of the 
developer to collect and remove any waste at their cost until the Council is satisfied that all 
waste requirements have been met.  All complaints in regard to non-collection due to the 
fault of the developer will be passed onto to the developer for response. 

 
The Council should be informed at least two weeks prior to the waste collections by the 
council taking place. 

GBC Highways Engineer  
 
This is a town centre location and I have no objections to the concept of the development. 
My concern relates to the accessibility of the refuse store as this appears difficult if not 
impossible to approach with a standard large sized refuse vehicle. It would be better to 
reduce the car parking provision and relocate the store closer to the highway, providing it 
doesn’t affect visibility for drivers emerging from parking spaces. Some lost car parking could 
perhaps be replaced by secure motorcycle, (including electric motorcycles) with appropriate 

Page 15



provision for charging e-motorcycles 
 

Car parking provision is reduced, but this is acceptable due to the town centre location and 
the proximity of trains and buses, all spaces should have an electric vehicle charging point 
as defined by Building Regulations.  Applicant should consider liaising with other 
developments regarding joining a car club, which should increase options for residents whilst 
increasing the security of the car club through having more members.  

 
Cycle parking conforms to adopted guidance at the minimum rate of one space per flat. But 
it should include provision for charging e-cycles that do not have removable batteries.  

 
The pick-up drop area is noted and is not a full width sized parking bay, but given the width 
of the access and the transient nature of its use it is unlikely to obstruct access to the 
parking area. 

 
Subject to the relocation of the refuse store or the Gravesham Borough Council Refuse 
Team accepting the current stores location I have no objections. 
 
KCC Highways & Transportation  
 
This is a town centre location where Kent Parking Standards are maximum and there is 
adequate public parking areas nearby for the reduction in parking spaces to be of concern.  
Cycle parking meets the minimum cycle parking standard.  No objection on highway grounds 
is therefore raised by the HA to this proposal. 
 
Informative: It is important to note that planning permission does not convey any 
approval to carry out works on or affecting the public highway.   
 
Any changes to or affecting the public highway in Kent require the formal agreement of the 
Highway Authority, Kent County Council (KCC), and it should not be assumed that this will 
be a given because planning permission has been granted. For this reason, anyone 
considering works which may affect the public highway, including any highway-owned street 
furniture, is advised to engage with KCC Highways and Transportation at an early stage in 
the design process. 
 
Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do not 
look like roads or pavements but are actually part of the public highway. Some of this 
highway land is owned by Kent County Council whilst some is owned by third party owners. 
Irrespective of the ownership, this land may have highway rights over the topsoil. 
 
Works on private land may also affect the public highway. These include works to cellars, to 
retaining walls which support the highway or land above the highway, and to balconies, 
signs or other structures which project over the highway. Such works also require the 
approval of the Highway Authority. 
 
Kent County Council has now introduced a formal technical approval process for new or 
altered highway assets, with the aim of improving future maintainability. This process applies 
to all development works affecting the public highway other than applications for vehicle 
crossings, which are covered by a separate approval process. 
 
Should the development be approved by the Planning Authority, it is the responsibility of the 
applicant to ensure, before the development is commenced, that all necessary highway 
approvals and consents have been obtained and that the limits of the highway boundary 
have been clearly established, since failure to do so may result in enforcement action being 
taken by the Highway Authority. The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on 

Page 16



the approved plans agree in every aspect with those approved under the relevant legislation 
and common law. It is therefore important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and 
Transportation to progress this aspect of the works prior to commencement on site. 
Guidance for applicants, including information about how to clarify the highway boundary 
and links to application forms for vehicular crossings and other highway matters, may be 
found on Kent County Council’s website: 
 
http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/highway-permits-and-licences/highways-
permissions-and-technical-guidance  
 
Alternatively, KCC Highways and Transportation may be contacted by telephone: 03000 
418181. 
 
KCC - Dartford Group Fire Safety Office 
 
I’m unable to give a definitive answer as to if the proposal complies with the County of Kent 
Act 1981 Section 53 as all documents attached to portal are marked as “superseded”. I 
would require the below documents to be provided so as to carry out a suitable and sufficient 
assessment;  
 

 “Finalised” Design & Access Statement.  
 

 “Finalised” Site Plan.  
 
Applicants should be aware that in the event of planning permission being granted the Fire 
and Rescue Service would require emergency access, as required under the Building 
Regulations 2010, to be established.  
 
Fire Service access and facility provisions are a requirement under B5 of the Building 
Regulations 2010 and must be complied with to the satisfaction of the Building Control 
Authority. A full plans submission should be made to the relevant building control body who 
have a statutory obligation to consult with the Fire and Rescue Service. 
 
Southern Water 
 
The attached plan shows that the proposed development is building over to an existing 
public foul sewer which will not be acceptable to Southern Water. The exact position of the 
public sewer must be determined on site by the applicant before the layout of the proposed 
development is finalised.   
 
 It might be possible to divert the sewer, so long as this would result in no unacceptable loss 
of hydraulic capacity, and the work was carried out at the developer’s expense to the 
satisfaction of Southern Water under the relevant statutory provisions.  
 
- The public foul sewers requires a clearance of 3 metres on either side of the gravity sewers 
to protect it from construction works and to allow for future access for maintenance.  
 
- No development or tree planting should be carried out within 3 metres of the external edge 
of the public gravity sewers without consent from Southern Water.  
 
- No soakaways, swales, ponds, watercourses or any other surface water retaining or 
conveying features should be located within 5 metres of public or adoptable gravity sewers.  
 
- All existing infrastructure should be protected during the course of construction works.  
 

Page 17

http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/highway-permits-and-licences/highways-permissions-and-technical-guidance
http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/highway-permits-and-licences/highways-permissions-and-technical-guidance


 
Alternatively, the applicant may wish to amend the site layout, or combine a diversion with 
amendment of the site layout.  
 
We have restrictions on the proposed tree planting adjacent to Southern Water sewers, 
rising mains or water mains and any such proposed assets in the vicinity of existing planting. 
Reference should be made to Southern Water's publication “A Guide to Tree Planting near 
water Mains and Sewers” (southernwater.co.uk/media/3027/ds-tree-planting-guide.pdf) and 
the Sewerage Sector Guidance (water.org.uk/sewerage-sector-guidance-approved-
documents) with regards to any landscaping proposals and our restrictions and maintenance 
of tree planting adjacent to sewers, rising mains and water mains.  
 
Please note: There is a private communication pipe within the development site. 
 
In order to protect drainage apparatus, Southern Water requests that if consent is granted, a 
condition is attached to the planning permission; for example, the developer must advise the 
local authority (in consultation with Southern Water) of the measures which will be 
undertaken to divert the public sewers, prior to the commencement of the development.  
 
It is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the development site.  
Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction works, an investigation of the 
sewer will be required to ascertain its ownership before any further works commence on site. 
 
Our investigations indicate that Southern Water can facilitate foul sewerage disposal to 
service the proposed development.  Southern Water requires a formal application for a 
connection to the public foul sewer to be made the applicant or developer.   
 
To make an application visit Southern Water's Get Connected service: 
developerservices.southernwater.co.uk and please read our New Connections Charging 
Arrangements documents which are available on our website via the following link:  
southernwater.co.uk/developing-building/connection-charging-arrangements  
 
Our initial investigations indicate that there are no dedicated public surface water sewers in 
the area to serve this development. Alternative means of draining surface water from this 
development are required. Discharge of surface water runoff to public combined network can 
be allowed only once full assessment of other alternative methods have been carried out 
and discounted and at the discharge rates agreed with Southern Water as not introducing 
detriment to downstream network.  
 
Foul and surface water onsite network shall remain separate until the boundary of the site or 
final connection to public sewer.  
 
Alternatively, if the existing development discharges surface water to the existing combined 
system, then a discharge from the site may be permitted. The developer will be required to 
provide a topographical site survey and/or a CCTV survey showing the existing connection 
points, pipe sizes, gradients and calculations confirming the proposed surface water flow will 
be no greater than the existing contributing flows.  
 
In situations where surface water is being considered for discharge to our network, we 
require the below hierarchy for surface water to be followed which is reflected in part H3 of 
the Building Regulations. Whilst reuse does not strictly form part of this hierarchy, Southern 
Water would encourage the consideration of reuse for new developments.  
 
- Reuse  
- Infiltration  

Page 18



- Watercourse  
- Strom sewer  
- Combined Sewer  
 
Guidance on Building Regulations is here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/drainage-and-waste-disposal-approved-
document-h 
 
The supporting documents make reference to drainage using Sustainable Drainage Systems  
(SuDS).  
 
Under certain circumstances SuDS will be adopted by Southern Water should this be 
requested by the developer.  Where SuDS form part of a continuous sewer system, and are 
not an isolated end of pipe SuDS component, adoption will be considered if such systems 
comply with the latest Design and Construction Guidance (Appendix C) and CIRIA guidance. 
 
Where SuDS rely upon facilities which are not adoptable by sewerage undertakers the 
applicant will need to ensure that arrangements exist for the long-term maintenance of the 
SuDS facilities. It is critical that the effectiveness of these systems is maintained in 
perpetuity. Good management will avoid flooding from the proposed surface water system, 
which may result in the inundation of the foul sewerage system.   
 
Thus, where a SuDS scheme is to be implemented, the drainage details submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority should:  
 
- Specify the responsibilities of each party for the implementation of the SuDS scheme.  
 
- Specify a timetable for implementation.  
 
- Provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development.  
 
This should include the arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory 
undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its 
lifetime.  
 
The Council’s Building Control officers or technical staff should be asked to comment on the 
adequacy of soakaways to dispose of surface water from the proposed development.  
 
Land uses such as general hard standing that may be subject to oil/petrol spillages should 
be drained by means of oil trap gullies or petrol/oil interceptors.  
 
We request that should this planning application receive planning approval, the following 
informative is attached to the consent: Construction of the development shall not commence 
until details of the proposed means of foul sewerage and surface water disposal have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority in consultation with 
Southern Water.  
 
This initial assessment does not prejudice any future assessment or commit to any adoption  
agreements under Section 104 of the Water Industry Act 1991. Please note that non 
compliance with the Design and Construction Guidance will preclude future adoption of the 
foul and surface water sewerage network on site. The design of drainage should ensure that 
no groundwater or land drainage is to enter public sewers.  
 
Our investigations indicate that Southern Water can facilitate water supply to service the 
proposed development. Southern Water requires a formal application for a connection to the 

Page 19

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/drainage-and-waste-disposal-approved-document-h
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/drainage-and-waste-disposal-approved-document-h


water supply to be made by the applicant or developer.   
 
To make an application visit Southern Water's Get Connected service:  
developerservices.southernwater.co.uk and please read our New Connections Charging  
Arrangements documents which are available to read on our website via the following link  
southernwater.co.uk/developing-building/connection-charging-arrangements  
 
Historic England 
 
Historic England previously gave advice on this planning application in our letter dated 11 
June 2021, which should be read in conjunction with this letter. In that response we raised 
concerns over the impact the tallest element of the part-6 and part-9 storey development 
would have on the character and appearance of Gravesend’s conservation area’s and 
setting of the Grade II* St George’s Church.  
 
The revised application has reduced the height of the development to part-6 part-7 storeys. 
Historic England welcomes the reduction in height, which lessens the impact of the 
proposals when viewed from various locations within and towards Gravesend’s conservation 
areas. 
 
The proposed development would still introduce increased mass and scale in the vicinity of 
the surrounding conservation areas, which are characterised by their townscape's low 
homogenous scale. However, due to its now reduced height and back land location outside 
the conservation area, the potential visual impact would be limited to either very short-range 
views within the High Street/Queen Street Conservation Area or long-range views, such as 
from north of the Thames at Tilbury Fort (viewpoint 9).  
 
Taken in isolation, the development would still be prominent on the Gravesend skyline in 
those long-range views from Tilbury Fort, impacting on the setting of St George’s and the 
small scale of the conservation areas as set out in our letter dated 11 June 2021, albeit now 
to a lesser extent.  
 
That said, we appreciate as indicated in the applicant’s visualisations, the bulk of the 
development would now be obscured/ subservient to the consented Charter House (The 
Charter) development to the north of the site. Should this be built out to its full parameters, 
the development’s impact on the views towards Gravesend and St George’s from Tilbury 
would be negligible.  
 
In making your decision, your council should also consider the cumulative harm caused to 
the conservation areas and St George’s church by the number of other tall developments 
that are being planned or proposed in Gravesend. 
 
If your Council is satisfied that the harm has now been minimised, and that any residual 
harm is justified under the terms of the NPPF (Para 200) it is for your Council to carry out the 
weighing exercise between harm and public benefit (including heritage benefit) as required 
by paragraph 202 of the NPPF.  
 
In carrying out the weighing exercise, we think it helpful to iterate that this application 
proposes some heritage benefits. This particularly relates to the repair and redevelopment of 
the cinema building, which would have a positive impact on the King Street Conservation 
Area and the building itself. Should your council be minded to grant planning permission, we 
would advise you take opportunities to secure these enhancements, possibly through 
condition and / or a Section 106 agreement. 
 
In determining this application, you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 72(1) of 

Page 20



the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to 
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation 
areas. 
 
Your authority should take these representations into account in determining the application. 
If there are any material changes to the proposals, or you would like further advice, please 
contact us. Please advise us of the decision in due course. 
 
Publicity  
 
196 neighbours were notified on the revised plans and documents plus site and press 
notices were displayed. The overall consultation expiry date was 11 May 2022 and no 
responses were received to the re-consultation. 
 
Service Manager (Planning) Comments 
 
Members at the meetings of 27 October 2021 and 24 November 2021 had concerns at 
the height of the proposed building and that it would be an overbearing structure.   
 
As set out at the beginning of this report Members determined at the 24 November 2021 
meeting that the application be deferred planning permission for the following reasons: 

 
1. The amended plans received prior to the meeting to be assessed for further 

negotiations to take place; 
2. Consultations to be undertaken; 
3. The applicant to provide supporting revised information; 
4. To produce a revised financial viability statement on the impact of the revised 

scheme including delivery of affordable housing.   
 
In assessing the revised proposal there is no change to the assessment already made in the 
27 October 2021 and 24 November 2021 reports in respect of sustainability, refuse storage 
and collection arrangements, flood risk and surface water drainage, open space, 
contaminated land and commercial element. 
 
Housing Need and Principle of Development 
 
The housing need analysis remains as set out in the 27 October 2021 report (paras. 6.1 –  
6.5) and Members are advised to refer to this previous report for a full explanation.  The only  
difference being that the proposed development would now provide a net increase of 48 
units in total, reduced from 53 units.  Notwithstanding the Council’s shortages in housing  
delivery and the notable contribution the 48 units would provide, and which weighs in 
support of the scheme, the proposal must still be balanced against other requirements of the  
National Planning Policy Framework (2021) (NPPF) in particular the requirement for  
development to maintain an area’s prevailing character and setting; achieve high quality  
buildings and places; add to the overall quality of the area, be visually attractive, sustain and  
enhance the significance of heritage assets and create a high standard of amenity for  
existing and future users. 
 
Design, Character and Appearance Including Heritage 
 
The revised plans received show a reduction of two storeys on the western half of the 
building reducing it from 9 to 7 storeys; the building overall would therefore now be 6 to 7 
storeys with the 7 storeys at the western half stepping down to 6 storeys at the eastern half.   
 
The below images compare the original and revised building proposed: 

Page 21



 
Elevation as viewed from King Street 

 
 
Original proposal 
 
 

 
 
Revised proposal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



 
 
Elevation as viewed from Brewhouse Yard 
 

 
 
Original Proposal 
 

 
 
Revised Proposal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



East Side Elevation (Facing Towards Queen Street) 
 

 
 
Original Proposal 
 

 
 
Revised Proposal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



West Elevation (Facing Towards Side Of 1-2 King Street) 
 

 
 
Original Proposal 
 

 
 
Revised Proposal 
 
For the avoidance of doubt Members are reminded that the front part of the site lies within 
the King Street Conservation Area and the rear part of the site is not within a Conservation 
Area but is adjacent to both the King Street Conservation Area and the High Street & Queen 
Street Conservation Area. Any development must preserve or enhance the character or 
appearance of a Conservation Area (Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990).    
 
Historic England advise that the proposed building would still be prominent on Gravesend’s 
skyline, the setting of St Georges Church and to the surrounding Conservation Areas but this 
would be to a lesser extent than first proposed.  They advise that the building would be 
obscured and/or subservient to The Charter development and so there would be a negligible 
impact on views towards the town and St George’s Church from across the river.  Historic 
England consider that the cumulative impact of this and the other tall developments that 

Page 25



have been planned or proposed in the town should be assessed and that if it is considered 
that the harm previously identified has been minimised then a balancing exercise must take 
place between the harm identified and any public benefits from the scheme which includes 
the restoration of the remaining cinema building. 
 
The applicant’s revised Townscape and Heritage Statement (page 5) sets out that the 
emerging context of development within Gravesend Town Centre is a key consideration 
when assessing the effects of the proposed development, as is the past development upon 
the site. 
 
The below image from the Design & Access Statement shows the proposed building with the 
outline of the former cinema building also shown (in red) in the Brewhouse Yard elevation: 
 

 
 
Although this shows the overall outline of the previous cinema building, it is incorrect and 
misleading as the main part of the previous cinema building was set further back in the site 
and did not directly front Brewhouse Yard, as shown in the aerial photos that follow. The part 
of the previous cinema building fronting onto Brewhouse Yard was only 2-3 storeys with a 
sloping mono pitched roof: 
 

 
 

Page 26



 
 
The 2-3 storey element with the higher building behind can be seen in the below street 
scene view. 
 

 
As such it is considered that when one views the existing building heights in the surrounding 
area as well as the height of the cinema building which previously existed on the site, the 
bulk and massing of the proposed building would continue to be overly dominant and out of 
keeping with the character of the area which the site is situated within.  Brewhouse Yard is a 
narrow street where the general predominance of built form steps down from the three 
storey buildings found nearer the entrance to the two storey buildings along its main length.  
Opposite the site are 2 storey buildings at nos. 5-9 Brewhouse Yard with 2-3 storey at the 
eastern end of Brewhouse Yard on its northern side.  To the east of the site on the southern 
side of Brewhouse Yard is the 3 storey former Old Comrades Club and to the west is the 
four storey 1-2 King Street (recently extended with two additional floors).  The predominant 

Page 27



buildings fronting Brewhouse Yard are therefore 2-3 storeys with there being none any more 
than 4 storeys.  The subservient nature of Brewhouse Yard is not only marked by the heights 
of its buildings but also the street width which is narrow and becomes narrower still towards 
its very end.   
 
The applicant’s proposal to use the height of the tallest part of the previous cinema building 
as justification for the height of the proposed building fronting Brewhouse Yard is not 
considered appropriate. The manner in which the applicant has reduced the height of the 
building has also resulted in the proposed building presenting itself as one large uniform 
block.  The proposed building due to its height, scale, bulk, massing and design would 
therefore be an overly dominant form of development which would not respect the scale and 
built form of Brewhouse Yard and would completely overwhelm it appearing as an extremely 
overbearing addition in the street.   
 
Due to the narrow nature of Brewhouse Yard, standing immediately adjacent to the building 
one would not see the upper storey as it is set back from the front elevation of the building. 
However, the proposed building would be visible in its entirety when viewed from Queen 
Street looking along Brewhouse Yard, this is the south eastern edge of the High Street & 
Queen Street Conservation Area.  The Conservation Area contains a variety of building 
heights and styles but many are of a domestic scale and vary between single storey and 4 
storeys in height which forms part of its character and appearance.  Due to the proposed 
building being completely out of keeping with the surrounding development in Brewhouse 
Yard and Queen Street in terms of height and scale and appearing as an overly dominant 
form of development, it would harm the setting of the High Street & Queen Street 
Conservation Area when viewed from Queen Street looking along Brewhouse Yard and from 
the end of Brewhouse yard back towards Queen Street.    
 
In respect of wider townscape views, with the reduction in the height of the building this is  
considered to have reduced the overall impact in respect of wider townscape views. However  
there would still be a degree of harm caused due to the scale of the building.  From the south  
when viewed from Windmill Hill, the proposed building would not be screened by The Charter  
development currently being constructed. As set out in the Townscape Visual  
Assessment (viewpoint 10), the top three storeys of the proposed building would be visible  
above the surrounding development therefore appearing as a dominant building in the  
townscape.  From Windmill Hill the undulating townscape of Gravesend is seen with the  
spires of St George’s Church (grade II* listed), St John’s Church (grade II listed) and the  
Methodist Church both in Milton Road visible along with Gravesend clock tower. From Tilbury  
Fort (viewpoint 9 in the Townscape Visual Assessment) the proposed building would be less  
visible than from Windmill Hill due to The Charter (allocated in the Development Plan) 
development that would screen the majority of it.   
 
Although reduced, the proposed building would still introduce a large monolithic built form  
which would compete with and diminish the prominence of St George’s Church spire and the  
other spires identified above most notably from Windmill Hill and to a lesser extent from  
across the river (due to mostly being screened by The Charter from this view).  As such it is  
considered the proposal would also be harmful in wider townscape terms and as a result to  
the setting of the respective Conservation Areas that the spires would be contained in (High  
Street & Queen Street, King Street and Harmer Street).   
 
It is also important to consider the cumulative harm caused to the Conservation Areas and 
St Georges Church from a further tall building in central Gravesend when compared against 
the other tall buildings which have already been permitted.  It is therefore prudent to look at 
the current proposal in the emerging context of other developments permitted by the 
Council.  These include The Charter, Market Square (Ref. 20200343) which is currently 
being constructed and will consist of three blocks ranging from 3 to 10 storeys; Clifton 

Page 28



Slipways, West Street (Ref. 20191122) which will comprise a 23 storey building with a lower 
4-12 storey building; Former Gravesend and North Kent Hospital (M Block) (Ref. 20190504) 
which includes conversion and extension of the existing building with a new storey and an 11 
storey side extension and also Albion Waterside, Canal Basin (Ref. 20210270) which in the 
full planning application permitted include 6-23 storey buildings.  
 
Given this emerging townscape of developments of up to 10, 11, 12 and 23 storeys the 
existing historic townscape of central Gravesend would be altered with these buildings being 
of much greater height than their neighbours.  The proposed 6-7 storey building would 
further add to this and given its location in a narrow side street in a much more built-up area 
than these other developments, it is considered that harm would be caused to the 
townscape.   
 
In respect of design, character and heritage it is therefore considered that the proposed 
building in its revised form would still due to its height, bulk and massing be an overly 
dominant form of development which would be out of keeping with the scale and character of 
the immediate locality and the wider townscape of Gravesend.  It would have an adverse 
impact on the setting of the Grade II* listed St George’s Church, the grade II listed St Johns 
Church, the Grade II listed clock tower and the Methodist Church due to competing with the 
prominence of their spires and would impact on the setting of the High Street & Queen 
Street, King Street and Harmer Street Conservation Areas. 
 
On balance it is considered that the level of harm on the historic environment is less than 
substantial. In such circumstances the NPPF (2021) at paragraph 202 advises that the harm 
is to be weighed against the public benefits of a proposal including where appropriate, 
securing its optimum viable use.  In this case the site is vacant, and the proposal would bring 
the site back into use providing a work hub and residential uses, would provide 48 flats, 
economic benefits from the construction and occupation of the development and the 
restoration of the remains of the façade and cinema building.  However, on balance these 
benefits are not considered to outweigh the harm identified in design terms and to the setting 
of the listed buildings and conservation areas identified above.   As such the proposal is still 
considered contrary to Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
(2014) and saved Policies TC2 and TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (1994). 
(Members are advised to refer to paras. 6.16 – 6.17 of the 27 October 2021 report for an 
explanation of these policies).  
 
Amenity of Future Occupiers 
 
Privacy 
 
It was set out in the 27 October 2021 report how due to the close proximity of the 
proposed new building to its neighbouring properties it would not achieve the minimum 
privacy distances as set out in SPG2 (21m between facing habitable room windows) to 
the buildings to the east, south and west and as such occupiers of the proposed 
development would experience overlooking, overbearing and a lack of privacy. Whilst the 
overall height of the building has been reduced the overlooking of occupiers identified on 
the remaining floors would still exist as follows. 
 
North rear elevation of King Street facing building and south rear elevation of Brewhouse 
yard facing building 
 
The rear elevation of the building fronting King Street would have glazing across its rear 
elevation at first, second and third floors serving bedrooms and combined living, dining and 
kitchens, plus balconies at each level.  The proposed new building fronting Brewhouse Yard 
would have a number of windows in its rear elevation serving bedrooms and combined 

Page 29



living, dining and kitchens plus balconies.  At its nearest point the distance between the rear 
elevations would be 18.7m, and to the balconies would be 15.2m which is under the 21m 
minimum required as set out in SPG2 for facing habitable room windows.  As well as direct 
overlooking between the first, second and third floors of both buildings, the new building 
fronting Brewhouse Yard is 6-7 storeys so the fourth, fifth and sixth floors would also look 
down upon the of rear of the King Street building which would lead to overlooking and be 
overbearing.   
 
There are a number of other windows in the rear of a number of King Street buildings at first 
floor level and above and occupying residential use.  The distance between the nearest of 
these to the opposite windows in the new building fronting Brewhouse Yard would be 
approx. 19m at its minimum therefore denoting overlooking.  
 
East flank elevation 
 
There are windows serving bedrooms and combined living, dining and kitchens at the 
southern part at first to third floor levels, from fourth floor to fifth floor level they extend 
across the whole of the east flank, at sixth floor level the building is stepped away.  There 
are windows in the rear of the buildings in Queen Street in residential use, the nearest of 
which would be 17.5m away.  There are also windows in the south flank of 15-17 Queen 
Street serving bedrooms, these would be 1-16m away from the windows in the new building.   
 
West flank elevation  
 
There are a number of windows in the west flank elevation across the whole of the flank from 
first to sixth floor levels, with glazed panels at seventh floor level serving bedrooms and 
living, dining and kitchens.  There are a number of properties in the High Street with 
windows in their rear elevations serving residential use.  At 1-2 King Street immediately to 
the west of the application site there is a residential conversion of the upper floors to flats 
and two new storeys being added under permission 20191051 and which is being 
constructed.  This would have a number of residential use windows including habitable room 
windows such as bedrooms and kitchen, dining and living rooms in its east elevation. The 
distance between the windows at first, second floor levels would be some 15m and to the 
third and fourth which is slightly back, some 17m.   
 
North front elevation 
 
The two flats at ground floor would be single aspect only (north facing) and would have its 
habitable room windows of bedrooms and living/dining/kitchens facing onto the Brewhouse 
Yard which would lead to reduced privacy with potential passers by. There would be a 
number of windows from first floor up.  The building opposite at nos. 5-9 Brewhouse Yard is 
in commercial use; the distance to the nearest residential buildings northwards would be 
some 47m.   
 
As such it is considered that future occupiers of the proposed development would still 
experience overlooking and a lack of privacy and as such in respect of occupier amenity this 
proposal in its revised form is considered contrary to Policy CS19 of Gravesham Local Plan 
Core Strategy (2014). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



 
Room sizes 
 
The revised table below shows a breakdown of the size of each residential unit and 
whether there is any private amenity space: 
 

Ground 
Floor 

Actual 
Floor 
Area 

National 
Standard 

Double 
Bedroom 

Double 
Bedroom 

Living/Kitchen/ 
diner 

W/C 
Ensuite(s) 

Amenity 
space 

1b2p 58m² 50m² 13.72 m² N/A 28 m² w/c 4.95m² N/A 

1b2p 52.61m² 50m² 11.71 m² N/A 27.33m² w/c 4.95m² N/A 

1st Floor Actual 
Floor 
Area 

National 
Standard 

Double 
Bedroom 

Double 
Bedroom 

Living/Kitchen/ 
diner 

W/C 
Ensuite(s) 

Amenity 
space 

2b4p  73.04m² 70m² 11.33m² 12.7m² 29m² w/c 4.56m² 
ensuite 2.29m² 

3.58m² 

2b4p  75.63m² 70m² 13.52m² 10.64m² 
 

29.46m² 
 

w/c 4.14m² 
ensuite 3.57m² 

N/A 

2b4p  75.18m² 70m² 13.52m² 12.54m² 28.11m² w/c 4.4m² 
ensuite 3.64m² 

2.68m² 

2b4p  70.43m² 70m² 12.38m² 11.8m² 27.64m² w/c 4.98 m² 
Ensuite 3.61m² 

2.73m² 
 

1b2p  54.76m² 50m² 11.62m² N/A 29.68m² w/c 5m² 2.73m² 

1b2p  52.33m² 50m² 11.22m² N/A 27.57m² 4.76m² 2.85m² 

2b4p  75.47m² 70m² 15.67m² 11.64m² 26.1m² 4.65m² 
Ensuite 3.75m² 

2.75m² 

1b2p 55.26m² 50m² 11.49m² N/A 29.09m² w/c 4.77m² 4.53m² 

1b2p 61.87m² 50m² N/A N/A 46.62m²  
(studio)  

w/c 4.8m² 1.58m² 

2nd Floor Actual 
Floor 
Area 

National 
Standard 

Double 
Bedroom 

Double 
Bedroom 

Living/Kitchen/ 
diner 

W/C 
Ensuite(s) 

Amenity 
space 

2b4p  73.04m² 70m² 11.33m² 12.7m² 29m² w/c 4.56m² 
Ensuite 2.29m² 

3.58m² 

2b4p  75.63m² 70m² 13.52m² 10.64m² 
 

29.46m² 
 

w/c 4.14m² 
Ensuite 3.57m² 

2.64m² 

2b4p  75.18m² 70m² 13.52m² 12.54m² 28.11m² w/c 4.4 m² 
Ensuite 3.64m² 

2.68m² 

2b4p  70.43m² 70m² 12.38m² 11.8m² 27.64m² w/c 4.98 m² 
Ensuite 3.61m² 

2.73m² 
 

1b2p  54.76m² 50m² 11.62m² N/A 29.68m² w/c 5m² 2.73m² 

1b2p  52.33m² 50m² 11.22m² N/A 27.57m² w/c 4.76m² 2.85m² 

2b4p  75.47m² 70m² 15.67m² 11.64m² 26.1m² w/c 4.65m² 
Ensuite 3.75m² 

2.75m² 

1b2p 55.26m² 50m² 11.49m² N/A 29.09m² 4.77 m² 4.43m² 

1b2p  61.87m² 50m² N/A N/A 46.62m² 
(studio) 

4.8 m² N/A 

Page 31



 
The table has been revised to reflect the removal of the seventh and eighth floors and 
reflect slight changes to several of the flats on the fourth, fifth and sixth floors.  Broadly 
the scheme still meets the Government’s Nationally Described Space Standards as set 
out in the table above, however a flat on the fifth floor is still identified as falling marginally 
below the standard.  In terms of amenity space, there is only now one flat on the sixth 

3rd Floor Actual 
Floor 
Area 

National 
Standard 

Double 
Bedroom 

Double 
Bedroom 

Living/Kitchen/ 
diner 

W/C 
Ensuite(s) 

Amenity 
space 

2b4p  73.04 m² 70m² 11.33 m² 12.7 m² 29 m² w/c 4.56 m² 
Ensuite 29m² 

3.58 m² 

2b4p 75.63 m² 70m² 13.52 m² 10.64 m² 
 

29.46 m² 
 

w/c 4.14 m² 
Ensuite 3.57m² 

2.64 m² 

2b4p 75.18 m² 70m² 13.52 m² 12.54 m² 28.11 m² w/c 4.4 m² 
Ensuite 3.64m² 

2.68 m² 

2b4p 70.43 m² 70m² 12.38 m² 11.8 m² 27.64 m² w/c 4.98 m² 
Ensuite 3.61m² 

2.73 m² 
 

1b2p 54.76 m² 50m² 11.62 m² N/A 29.68 m² Bathroom 5 m² 2.73 m² 

1b2p 52.33 m² 50m² 11.22 m² N/A 27.57 m² w/c 4.76 m² 2.85 m² 

2b4p 75.47 m² 70m² 15.67 m² 11.64 m² 26.1 m² w/c 4.65 m² 
Ensuite3.75m² 

2.75 m² 

1b2p 55.26 m² 50m² 11.49 m² N/A 29.09 m² w/c 4.77 m² 4.27 m² 

1b2p 63.71 m² 50m² 11.47 m² N/A 30.15 m² w/c 3.73 m² N/A 

4th Floor Actual 
Floor 
Area 

National 
Standard 

Double 
Bedroom 

Double 
Bedroom 

Living/Kitchen/ 
diner 

W/C 
Ensuite(s) 

Amenity 
space 

2b4p  73.8 m² 70m² 14.8 m² 12.2 m² 30.6 m² w/c 5.4 m² 
Ensuite 3.3m² 

3.8 m² 
2.3 m² 

1b2p  53.4 m² 50m² 13.39 m²  30.93 m² w/c 4.45 m² 5.57 m² 

2b4p  70.38 m² 70m² 13.67 m² 11.69 m² 27.1 m² w/c 5.05 m² 
Ensuite 4.23m² 

2.68 m² 

2b4p  70.68 m² 70m² 13.25 m² 11.47 m² 27.32 m² w/c 5.22 m² 
Ensuite 3.2 m² 

  4.38 m² 

1b2p 57.3 m² 50m² 11.81 m² N/A 31.37 m² w/c 4.67 m² 7.78 m² 

1b2p 58.58 m² 50m² 11.68 m² N/A 33.15 m² w/c 5.06 m² 2.74 m² 

2b4p 70.48 m² 70m² 11.15 m² 11.61 m² 25.77 m² w/c 4.84 m² 
Ensuite 3.41m² 

2.72 m² 

5th Floor Actual 
Floor 
Area 

National 
Standard 

Double 
Bedroom 

Double 
Bedroom 

Living/Kitchen/ 
diner 

W/C 
Ensuite(s) 

Amenity 
space 

2b4p  69.31 m² 70m² 14.81 m² 11.89 m² 26.92 m² w/c 5.23 m² 
Ensuite 3.1 m² 

2.3 m² 

1b2p  52.42 m² 50m² 12.7 m² N/A 30.89 m² w/c 4.27 m² N/A 

2b4p  70.33 m² 70m² 13.42 m² 11.55 m² 26.76 m² w/c 4.82 m² 
Ensuite 4.05m² 

2.63 m² 

2b4p  70.45 m² 70m² 12.79 m² 11.23 m² 27.42 m² w/c4.88 m² 
Ensuite 3.7 m² 

 2.49m² 

1b2p 57.66 m² 50m² 11.63 m² N/A 31.55 m² w/c 5.17m² 2.52 m² 

1b2p 58.74 m² 50m² 11.62 m² N/A 32.79 m² w/c 4.93m² 2.67 m² 

2b4p 70.37 m² 70m² 11.7 m² 11 m² 25.97 m² w/c 4.88m² 
Ensuite 3.53m² 

2.66 m² 

6th Floor Actual 
Floor 
Area 

National 
Standard 

Double 
Bedroom 

Double 
Bedroom 

Living/Kitchen/ 
diner 

W/C 
Ensuite(s) 

Amenity 
space 

2b4p 71.2 m² 70m² 11.8 m² 14.3 m² 28.5 m² w/c 4.5 m² 
Ensuite 3.19m² 

N/A 

1b2p 51.9 m² 50m² 12.54 m² N/A 33.9 m² w/c 4.3 m² N/A 

2b4p 70.6 m² 70m² 11.27 m² 13.87 m² 26.61 m² w/c 4.79 m² 
Ensuite 3.67m² 

N/A 

1b2p 54.2 m² 50m² 11.1 m² N/A 29.02 m² w/c 4.91m² N/A 

2b4p 84.01 m² 70m² 11.8 m² 12.8  m²  30.08 m² w/c 4.77m² 
Ensuite 3.74m² 

62.21 m² 

Page 32



floor which meets the minimum standard for private amenity space as required within the 
Council’s adopted Residential Layout Guidelines.   
 
In summary in respect of occupier amenity is considered that future occupiers of the 
proposed development would still experience overlooking, overbearing and a lack of 
privacy.  As such this proposal is considered contrary to Policy CS19 (LPCS).   
 
Neighbouring Amenity  
 
It was set out in the 27 October 2021 report in detail how due to the close proximity of the 
proposed new building to its neighbouring properties it would not achieve the minimum 
privacy distances as set out in SPG2 to the buildings to the east, south and west and as 
such neighbouring properties of the proposed development would experience overlooking 
and be overbearing to them. Whilst the overall height of the building has been reduced 
the overlooking of neighbouring properties identified from the remaining floors would still 
exist as follows. 
 
Buildings to the south in King Street 
 
The new storey on top of the building (third floor level) would be fully glazed across its front 
elevation and with a bedroom and living room, dining room and kitchen which would look out 
onto commercial buildings opposite, 26 King Street opposite is single storey and has no 
residential above.  There are flats on the upper floors of several of the buildings on the 
southern side of King Street.  The proposed flat windows at first, second or third floor levels 
in the front of the King Street facing building are not considered to cause any direct window 
to window overlooking as there are no windows of surrounding buildings that are directly in 
the field of view.  The proposed 6-7 storey building is set back in the site, there would be a 
distance of some 50m to the windows serving flats on the upper floors of the buildings on the 
south side of King Street.  
 
Buildings to the east in Queen Street 
 
There are windows in the rear of several of the buildings in Queen Street bordering the site 
and which are in residential use, the nearest of which would be 17.5m away.  There are also 
windows in the south flank of 15-17 Queen Street serving bedrooms, these would be 1-16m 
away from the windows in the new building.   In the east elevation of the proposed 6-7 storey 
building there are a large number of windows serving bedrooms and combined living, dining 
and kitchens at the southern part at first to third floor levels, from fourth floor to fifth floor 
level they extend across the whole of the east flank, at sixth floor level the building is 
stepped away.   
 
Buildings to the north 
 
The building opposite at nos. 5-9 Brewhouse Yard is in commercial use. Beyond this is the 
rear yard area of 19-21 Queen Street, no. 23 Queen Street (a nightclub) and Gravesend 
Borough Market beyond that.  There is no residential use within 21m to the north of the 
proposed new building.  The buildings to the north-west in the High Street are at an angle to 
the proposed development and the nearest windows would be some 47m away.  There are 
flats in the upper floors of buildings at no. 1-4 Brewhouse Yard which is to the north east and 
therefore at an oblique angle, there would be a distance of some 9m between the nearest 
facing habitable windows of these flats and those in the north elevation of the proposed 
development.   
 
Buildings to the west 
    

Page 33



No. 1-2 King Street borders the site to the west.  This is in the process of being converted to 
residential use on its upper floors and two new storeys being added.  This development 
would have a number of residential use windows including habitable room windows such as 
bedrooms and kitchen, dining and living rooms in its east elevation.  There are a number of 
windows in the west flank elevation of the proposed new building fronting Brewhouse Yard 
across the whole of the flank from first to sixth floor levels, with glazed panels at seventh 
floor level serving bedrooms and living, dining and kitchens.  The distance between the 
windows at first, second floor levels would be some 15m and to the third and fourth which is 
slightly back, some 17m.  Furthermore the additional storeys from fourth floor level up over 
and above the height of 1-2 King Street with all the windows in those floors would lead to 
occupiers of 1-2 King experiencing overbearing and perceived overlooking from those floors.    
 
In respect of neighbouring amenity it is therefore considered that the proposed 
development would still impact on the amenity and privacy of a number of neighbouring 
properties with regards being overbearing and overlooking.  As such this proposal is 
considered contrary to Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014). 
 
Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking 
 
There were no objections to the original proposal in respect of parking or highways.  The 
number of parking spaces and cycle store spaces proposed (22 no. parking spaces and 
54 cycle spaces) remains as originally proposed, therefore with the reduction in the total 
number of units in the scheme by six this would result in more spaces per dwelling than 
originally proposed.     
 
Ecology and Biodiversity    
 
The Strategic Access Mitigation and Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS) (tariff) payment (currently 
£275.88 per dwelling) and which would therefore be £13,242.24 for the net addition of 48 
dwellings has still not been paid.  Should permission be forthcoming the tariff could be 
included within a s.106 agreement in order to ensure the proposal puts in place adequate 
measures to mitigate potential significant adverse effects on the Thames Estuary and 
Marshes SPA/Ramsar site.  Subject to this the proposal is considered compliant with Policy  
CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014). 
 
Planning Obligations 
 
As set out in the 27 October 2021 report the site is located in the urban area and Policy 
CS16 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy applies, which sets out that 30% of the 
housing will need to be affordable housing as the development exceeds the threshold of 
15 dwellings. 
 
No affordable housing was proposed in the original proposal and there is still none 
proposed with the revised proposal.  A Financial Viability Appraisal has been submitted 
which states that the scheme cannot viably provide any affordable housing.  The 
applicant’s viability appraisal has been independently reviewed by the Councils appointed 
Surveyors (BPS) who find that the scheme taking into account requested contributions by 
KCC (which would be approx. £60,000) means that the scheme would be either 
undeliverable or deliverable at a deficient, both of these scenarios meaning that the 
scheme could not deliver affordable housing or other planning obligations. 
 
As such it is considered that viability issues with the site mean that the scheme could not 
provide affordable housing or a contribution in lieu of affordable housing or any other 
planning obligations and as such these should therefore not be requested. 
 

Page 34



Should Members be minded to grant planning permission it would be appropriate to build 
in a mechanism in a s106 agreement to enable viability to be reviewed at relevant stages 
of a planned development to assess the affordable housing provision and infrastructure 
contributions reasonable at the relevant stages. Subject to this the proposal is considered 
acceptable in respect of Policies CS10 and CS16 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy (2014). 
 
 
Overall Balancing Exercise and Conclusion 
 
It is acknowledged that the Council is currently unable to demonstrate a five-year housing  
supply and as the delivery of housing is substantially below (less than 75%) that required by  
the Housing Delivery Test, the housing delivery element of Policy CS02 of the Gravesham  
Local Plan Core Strategy (2014) must be regarded to be out of date, as required by the  
Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF (2021).  
 
The proposed development for a net increase of 48 no. residential units (in this case 48 flats)  
would offer a notable contribution towards meeting the Borough’s local housing need and,  
accordingly, adds weight in support of the application.  
 
For decision-taking the NPPF (2021) states that there should be a presumption in favour of  
sustainable development (para. 11). This means that permission should be granted unless 
the application of policies in the NPPF protects areas or assets of particular importance1 
which provides a clear reason for refusing the proposal; or any adverse impacts of doing so 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in NPPF when taken as a whole.  
 
In addition to bringing forward much needed residential development, the proposal would  
also result in the redevelopment of a vacant and underused site and improvements to the  
current King Street frontage, through its repair and preservation. It would also result in a  
sustainable form of development in relation to location, and construction methods, would  
provide sufficient refuse storage subject to improving access for collections, be acceptable in  
respect of parking and highway safety, flood risk and drainage.  Subject to appropriate  
conditions, the proposal would be acceptable in respect of contaminated land and subject to  
financial contributions would be acceptable in respect of ecology and biodiversity and  
obligations.  
 
However, notwithstanding this, a balanced approach has to be taken and it is considered  
that the adverse impacts of the development would significantly and demonstrably outweigh  
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF (2021) and established local  
policy taken as a whole. 
 
In this case the balance is tilted towards refusal for the following reasons: 
 
It is acknowledged that the building has been reduced in scale from that originally proposed  
which has helped to reduce the height of part of the building and other developments which 
have been permitted in Gravesend town centre have also been taken into account.  
However, notwithstanding the above the proposed building in its revised form is still 
considered to constitute an overdevelopment of the site and it would still have a detrimental 
impact on the character and appearance of the area, with the proposal’s bulk and massing 
not being compatible with its location and surrounding development.  The taller Brewhouse 
Yard block would still dominate the street scene and harm strategic viewpoints, as well as 
the setting of listed buildings and Conservation Areas.   

                                                           

 

Page 35



The proposal would also still be harmful to the amenity and privacy of occupiers and  
neighbouring properties.   
 
It is therefore harmful to the character and appearance of the site and the wider locality and  
would contravene Policies CS14, CS15, CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core  
Strategy (2014) which ensure new development will integrate well with the surrounding local  
area. At a national level the proposed development would also contravene Section 12 of the  
NPPF (2021) ‘achieving well designed places’, the NPPF states, ‘The creation of high  
quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning  
and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable  
development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development  
acceptable to communities....Development that is not well designed should be refused,  
especially where it fails to reflect local design policies and government guidance on design.’  
 
As such it is recommended that planning permission is refused.   
 
Recommendation: 
 
Delegated to the Service Manager (Planning) for the application to be REFUSED 
Planning Permission, for the following reasons: 
 

1.   The proposed new six to seven storey building by virtue of its height, scale, bulk, 
massing and design would be an overly dominant form of development which would 
not respect the scale and built form of Brewhouse Yard and its immediate 
surroundings but on the contrary would completely overwhelm it appearing as an 
extremely overbearing addition and would also appear as an incongruous addition in 
wider townscape views at odds with the prominent features of Gravesend’s historic 
roofscape principally several church spires.  As such this proposal would have a 
harmful impact on the setting of the High Street & Queen Street, King Street and 
Harmer Street Conservation Areas and would have an adverse impact on the setting 
of the Grade II* listed St George’s Church, the grade II listed St Johns Church, the 
Grade II listed clock tower and the Methodist Church (unlisted).  The proposal is 
therefore contrary to Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy (2014), saved Policies TC2 and TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review (1994) and Sections 12 and 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2021).  
 

2. The proposed development by virtue of its siting, design and proximity to 
neighbouring buildings is considered to be harmful to the amenity and privacy of 
future occupiers with regards overlooking, overbearing and lack of privacy.  As such 
this proposal is considered contrary to Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Pan 
Core Strategy (2014) and paragraph 130(f) of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021). 
 
 

3. The proposed development by virtue of its siting, design and proximity to 
neighbouring buildings would impact on the amenity and privacy of a number of 
neighbouring properties with regards being overbearing, overlooking and lack of 
privacy.  As such this proposal is considered contrary to Policy CS19 of the 
Gravesham Local Pan Core Strategy (2014) and paragraph 130(f) of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

Page 36


	Agenda
	2 To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting
	5a 20210453 - Former Cinema Site, 11 King Street, Gravesend



